CONFIDENTIAL OFFERING MEMORANDUM

November 21, 2016

Continuous Offering

This Confidential Offering Memorandum constitutes a private offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions and to those persons where and to whom they may be lawfully sold and therein only by those entities permitted to sell such securities. This Confidential Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is it to be construed as, a prospectus, advertisement or public offering of the securities referred to herein. No securities commission or similar regulatory authority has reviewed this Confidential Offering Memorandum or in any way passed upon the merits of the securities offered hereunder and any representation to the contrary is an offence. Persons who will be acquiring securities pursuant to this Confidential Offering Memorandum will not have the benefit of the review of the material by the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada.

The securities offered hereunder will be issued under exemptions from the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws and will be subject to certain resale restrictions. This Confidential Offering Memorandum is confidential. By their acceptance hereof; prospective subscribers agree that they will not transmit, reproduce or make available to anyone this Confidential Offering Memorandum or any information contained herein.

CRYSTAL ENLIGHTENED RESOURCE AND PRECIOUS METALS FUND

Investment Objective: The investment objective of the Crystal Enlightened Resource and

Precious Metals (the **Fund**) is to generate positive absolute annual returns by investing primarily in securities with economic exposure

to the global resource and precious metals sector.

Manager: Crystal Wealth Management System Limited

Lead Portfolio Strategist: Al Housego, CFP, CIM

Structure: Mutual fund trust

Registered Plan Eligibility: 100% eligible for all registered plans

Investor Eligibility: Accredited investors in any dollar amount or corporations or other

entities investing \$150,000 or more.

Investment/Redemption: The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund trust, priced weekly.

Purchases and redemptions can be made on any weekly valuation date. There is no mandatory hold period or redemption notice period. However, there is a short-term trading fee that the Manager can apply if it perceives that an investor's trading activity in the fund is affecting other Unitholders. Details are found in this

Offering Memorandum.

Risk Level: Based on the investment objective and strategy, as well as past

experience, the Manager expects the volatility of the Fund, as measured by standard deviation (the risk measurement tool used by

the Ontario Securities Commission), to be high.

Suitability: The Fund is suitable, as a minor component of their portfolio, for

anyone with greater than a three year investment horizon; however suitability must always take into account the investor's particular

circumstances.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item 1	Use of Proceeds	1
Item 2	Business of The Fund	1
2.1	Legal Structure	1
2.2	Our Business Investment Objective Investment Strategy Investment Restrictions Investment Process Investments in Other Funds Managed by Crystal Wealth Trustee, Manager, Portfolio Advisor and Promoter Fiscal Year Auditor Custodian Prime Broker Registrar Fund Accountant	1122333
2.3	Material Agreements Master Declaration of Trust Master Management Agreement Custodian and Prime Brokerage Agreements Securityholder Services Agreement	3 4
Item 3	Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders	5
3.1	Principal Holders	5
3.2	Experience of the Manager and Lead Portfolio Strategist	5
3.3	Interests of Management and Conflicts of Interest	5
3.4	Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy	6
Item 4	Securities Offered	6
4.1	Terms of Securities Units Offering Price	6
4.2	Computation of Net Asset Values	7
4.3	Redemption of Units	8
4.4	Systematic Withdrawal Plans	8
4 5	Distributions	9

4.6	Short Term Trading Fee	9
4.7	Restriction on Non-Resident Unitholders	g
4.8	Fees and Expenses	9
4.9	Subscription Procedure Continuous Offering Additional Investments Pre-authorized Chequing Plan	10 11
Item 5	Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations	11
5.1	Disclaimer	11
5.2	Summary of Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations	11
5.3	Eligibility for Investment	15
Item 6	Compensation Paid to Dealers	15
6.1	Sales Charge	15
6.2	Trailer Fees.	15
Item 7	Risk Factors	16
7.1	Issuer Risks	16
7.2	Investment and Market Risks	16
Item 8	Reporting to Unitholders	19
Item 9	Other Disclosures	20
9.1	Forward Looking Information	20
9.2	Anti Money-Laundering Legislation.	20
9.3	Collection of Personal Information	20
9.4	FATCA	20
9.5	Restrictions on Transfer and Resale	21
9.6	Language of Documents	21
Item 10	Purchasers' Rights	21
10.1	Understanding your Rights	21
10.2	Two Day Cancellation Right	21

Item 11	Financial Statements	25
10.4	General	25
10.3	Statutory and Contractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation	21

Item 1 Use of Proceeds

The Fund will invest the net proceeds from the issue of Units in accordance with its investment objectives and strategies set out herein. See Item 2.2, Our Business. The net proceeds of this offering cannot be determined because Units are being offered on a continuous basis and there is no minimum offering. Sales commissions will vary depending on the fee negotiated by you with your dealer. See Item 6, Compensation Paid to Dealers. Because Units are offered on a continuous basis, other offering costs are treated as fees and expenses of the Fund. See Item 4.8, Fees and Expenses.

Item 2 Business of The Fund

2.1 Legal Structure

The Fund is an open-ended mutual fund trust formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario as of August 14, 2009 under a master declaration of trust (such document, as amended and restated December 17, 2007, and as it may be further amended from time to time is called the **Declaration of Trust** in this Offering Memorandum). Crystal Wealth Management System Limited (**Crystal Wealth** or the **Manager**) is the trustee and manager of the Fund.

2.2 Our Business

Investment Objective

The investment objective of the Fund is to generate positive absolute annual returns by investing primarily in securities with economic exposure to the global resource and precious metals sector.

Investment Strategy

The Fund's assets will be invested primarily in individual equity securities that have exposure to the resource and precious metals sectors as well as equity-related securities such as mutual funds and exchange-traded funds. There are no geographic restrictions and the Fund may invest anywhere in the world.

The Fund is actively managed and may not be invested at all times. Where the Manager believes that there are short term risks in the resource and precious metals sectors, it may hold the Fund's assets in cash, cash equivalents or other short term securities until market conditions are again favourable.

The Fund may make use of leverage provided that the use of leverage is limited to a 2:1 ratio. In other words, for every dollar invested in the Fund, the Manager may borrow no more than two dollars to make additional investments. The Manager does not intend to use this leverage capability on a regular basis.

The Manager may also lend portfolio securities and sell securities short if market conditions dictate that this would be a prudent move to protect the Fund's capital and/or realize significant gains in the Fund.

Please see "Risk Factors".

Investment Restrictions

Securities legislation imposes several restrictions on the Fund including the following: (a) the Fund is prohibited from acquiring 20% or more (alone or together with any related mutual fund) of the voting securities of an issuer and (b) the Fund cannot invest in issuers of which the Manager or its associates

own a significant interest (>10% voting securities). The Manager has received regulatory relief from the Ontario Securities Commission which permits the Fund to invest in underlying Crystal Wealth funds in excess of these limits.

The Manager has imposed the following additional investment restrictions on the Fund:

- The Fund will limit its exposure to any one issuer to no more than 30% of the Fund's net assets on a cost basis, except for other funds managed by the Manager as described herein; and
- The Fund will not trade in over-the-counter derivatives;

Investment Process

The Manager will continuously monitor and adjust the Fund's asset mix and its risk and reward profile in the context of the state of the economy and the conditions in the financial markets.

The Manager may, at its discretion, invest in other securities in order to maintain the liquidity of the Fund or to further diversify the investment portfolio of the Fund. The Manager will, at all times, select investments to include in the portfolio which assist in meeting the investment objective of the Fund.

Investments in Other Funds Managed by Crystal Wealth

The Manager has obtained certain regulatory relief under which the assets of the Fund may be invested in units of other mutual funds managed by Crystal Wealth (an **Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund**). No sales or redemption fees will be payable by the Fund in relation to its purchases or redemptions of the Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund, and no management fees or incentive fees will be payable by the Fund that, to a reasonable person, would be a duplicate fee payable by the Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund for the same service. Specifically, any management fees charged to the Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund attributable to the assets of the Fund that are invested in the Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund and the HST payable thereon will be rebated back to the Fund at the end of each month in the form of a management fee rebate that will be reinvested in additional units of the Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund on behalf of the Fund.

The proportion of the Fund's assets invested in an Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund will be at the discretion of the Manager and consistent with the investment objectives of the Fund. The Fund is permitted to invest up to 100% of its assets in any one or a combination of Underlying Crystal Wealth Funds. The Manager regularly reviews the Fund's holdings of any Underlying Crystal Wealth Funds to ensure that they continue to be appropriate for the Fund's investment objectives.

The Fund will not vote any of the units of the Underlying Crystal Wealth Funds owned by the Fund. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, choose to flow through the voting rights attached to units of the Underlying Crystal Wealth Funds owned by the Fund, to investors in the Fund. A Unitholder is entitled to receive from the Manager, free of charge, a copy of the offering memorandum, if any, relating to any Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund in which the Fund invests.

Trustee, Manager, Portfolio Advisor and Promoter

Crystal Wealth is the trustee, manager, portfolio advisor and promoter of the Fund. The Manager is registered with applicable securities regulatory authorities in the categories of investment fund manager, commodity trading manager and portfolio manager. The Manager will manage the affairs of the Fund in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of the Declaration of Trust, which provides for the

Manager to exercise its duties and responsibilities diligently and in good faith and with the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent professional investment fund manager would exercise in comparable circumstances. The Manager is also the portfolio adviser of the Fund and will be responsible for execution of the Fund's investment strategy, including the identification and selection of investment opportunities, related due diligence, negotiation, documentation, approval and ongoing management and administration of assets in the portfolio. Allocation of opportunities will be subject to the policies of the Manager. Its head office is 192 Plains Road East, Burlington, Ontario, L7T 2C3.

Please see Item 3 for more details on the principals of the Manager as well as disclosure of any potential conflicts of interest.

Fiscal Year

The Fund's financial year end is December 31 in each year. The Fund's taxation year end is December 31, or, if the Fund so elects under the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) and the regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended (collectively referred to herein as the "**Tax Act**"), December 15th in each year.

Auditor

BDO Canada LLP has been appointed by the Manager as the auditor of the Fund. Its office is located at 4-3115 Harvester Road, Burlington, ON, L7N 3N8.

Custodian

The custodian of the Fund is NBCN, a wholly-owned subsidiary of National Bank of Canada and a member of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada. Its office is located at 250 Yonge St., 16th Floor, Toronto, ON M5B 2L7.

Prime Broker

The prime broker of the Fund is Interactive Brokers Canada Inc., a member of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada. Its office is located at 1800 McGill College Avenue, Suite 2106, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 3J6.

Registrar

Unitholder record keeping and administration services are provided by International Financial Data Services (IFDS), 30 Adelaide St. E., Suite 1, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 3G9.

Fund Accountant

Fund accounting services are provided by The Investment Administration Solution Inc. (IAS), 400-330 Bay St., Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2S8.

2.3 Material Agreements

Master Declaration of Trust

The following constitutes a summary of the general provisions of the Declaration of Trust. The Declaration of Trust sets out the powers and duties of the manager and the trustee of the Fund, the attributes of the Units, procedures for the purchase, exchange and redemption of Units, recordkeeping, calculation of the Fund's income and other administrative procedures. It also contains provisions for the

selection of a successor trustee if Crystal Wealth should resign. Specific provisions of the Declaration of Trust dealing with series of Units and the rights of Unitholders are discussed under Item 4.1, Units.

The Declaration of Trust provides that the Fund or a series of Units of the Fund may be terminated on reasonable notice to investors and the subsequent distribution of the Fund's or series' net assets to investors.

The Declaration of Trust provides the trustee with a right of indemnification in carrying out its duties under the Declaration of Trust, provided that the trustee does not breach its standard of care.

Master Management Agreement

Crystal Wealth has entered into a Master Management Agreement dated as of April 12, 2007 and as amended from time to time by the parties (the **Management Agreement**) to facilitate the administration and portfolio management of the Fund. Under the Management Agreement, the Manager is responsible for providing directly, or for arranging other persons or companies to provide, administration of the Fund, investment portfolio advisory services, distribution services for the promotion and sale of the Fund's Units and other operational services. The Management Agreement contains a schedule of the management fee rates and sets out the operating expense reimbursement arrangements where applicable. The Fund pays the Manager an annual management fee of 2.0% of the average assets under management plus HST.

The Management Agreement will continue in effect unless and until terminated with respect to the Fund on at least 60 days' prior written notice. The Management Agreement may be terminated immediately upon written notice if any party is in breach of its terms and the breach has continued for at least 30 days without being remedied.

Under the Management Agreement, the Manager and its agents are not liable for any loss sustained by reason of the adoption or implementation of any investment policy or the purchase, sale or retention of any portfolio investment on behalf of the Fund. However, this limitation of liability does not protect the Manager against any liability to the Fund or Unitholders by reason of wilful misfeasance, bad faith or negligence in the performance of its duties under the Management Agreement.

Custodian and Prime Brokerage Agreements

The Manager entered into a custodian services agreement with NBCN on July 26, 2004, under which NBCN will act as custodian of certain assets of the Fund. The NBCN account holds the Fund's cash, pooled funds, mutual funds and bonds For its services, NBCN receives a fee agreed to from time to time by NBCN and the Manager. This fee is an expense of the Fund.

In addition, the Manager has a prime brokerage trading account with Interactive Brokers Canada Inc. in order to conduct equity trading on a cost effective basis. This account is used to hold and trade equity securities, options and futures and may also hold cash. Interactive Brokers Canada Inc. acts as the custodian for the Fund's assets that are held in the prime brokerage account.

Securityholder Services Agreement

The Manager entered into a securityholder services agreement with IFDS on February 17, 2004 to have IFDS act as registrar, transfer agent, order processing and distribution disbursement agent and to perform certain administrative, trust accounting and other services with respect to the Fund. For its services, IFDS receives a fee agreed to from time to time by IFDS and the Manager. This fee is an expense of the Fund.

Item 3 Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders

3.1 Principal Holders

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, no person directly or indirectly beneficially owns or controls 10% or more of any series of Unit.

3.2 Experience of the Manager and Lead Portfolio Strategist

The principal of the Manager is Clayton Smith, who has a broad background of investment and financing experience. Mr. Smith founded the Manager in 1998 and has been President and Chief Executive Officer since its creation. Prior to that, Mr. Smith was a financial planner for 4 years. Before entering the financial services industry, Mr. Smith served as an officer in the Canadian Armed Forces after attending Royal Military College.

The lead portfolio strategist of the Fund is Al Housego. Mr. Housego joined the Manager in 2010 after spending over 10 years as a mutual fund and insurance salesperson and financial planner.

3.3 Interests of Management and Conflicts of Interest

As stated, the Manager is engaged in activities as an investment fund manager, portfolio manager, distributor and promoter of Crystal Wealth investment funds and as an exempt market dealer. The Manager and its principals do not devote their time exclusively to the affairs of the Fund and they perform services for other persons and entities including other Crystal Wealth investment funds. The Manager is entitled to receive management and administrative services fees from Crystal Wealth investment funds and other client portfolios. From time to time, investment opportunities and transaction participation may have to be allocated among the investment funds and other client portfolios for which the Manager has responsibility. If this were to occur, the Manager will make the appropriate allocations in accordance with its written policies and in a manner which it considers to achieve a fair and equitable result for all affected client portfolios.

In its capacity as an exempt market dealer, the Manager and its dealing representatives may distribute units of the Fund and of other investment funds and pooled investment vehicles managed or sponsored by the Manager. Dealing representatives of the Manager are permitted to charge or receive an up-front placement fee for such distribution, to be negotiated with the investor, but not to exceed 5% of the total subscription amount. If the dealing representative and the investor agree to a placement fee, such fee is deducted and paid to the dealing representative and only the net amount is invested in the Fund. The Manager receives no separate placement fees but does receive a management fee which is charged to the Fund.

In its capacity as a portfolio manager, the Manager may manage the investment portfolios of clients on a discretionary basis, and in so doing may select the Fund or other Crystal Wealth investment funds for such managed accounts.

As described under "Our Business -- Investments in Other Funds Managed by Crystal Wealth", the Fund may invest in other Funds of which the Manager is the trustee and manager, although there is no duplication of management fees.

Due to the relationships described above, the Fund may be considered to be a related or connected issuer of the Manager under applicable securities legislation.

Additional information as to real and potential conflicts of interest, and the Manager's policies and procedures for addressing them, including the Manager's co-investment, personal trading, portfolio valuation, brokerage (order flow) allocation and soft dollar policies, are available by contacting the Manager.

3.4 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy

No director or senior officer or control person of Crystal Wealth or person holding a sufficient number of Units of the Fund to affect materially the control of the Fund has, in the last 10 years, been declared bankrupt or been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory authority or been a director, senior officer or control person of any issuer that has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or by a regulatory authority while the director, officer or control person was a director, officer or control person of such issuer.

Item 4 Securities Offered

4.1 Terms of Securities

The securities being offered under this Offering Memorandum are Series A units of the Fund.

Units

An investment in the Fund is represented by Units. The Fund is permitted to have an unlimited number of series of Units and is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Units of each series. All series of Units of the Fund will be invested in the same portfolio of assets. To date, the Fund has created only one series of Units.

At a meeting of Unitholders, each Unitholder will have one vote for each dollar value of all Units owned by such Unitholder as determined based on the series net asset value per Unit at the close of business on the record date for voting for such meeting, with no voting rights being attributed to portions of a dollar of such value. Unitholders have limited voting rights.

Unitholders are also entitled to participate pro rata based on the Units held by them in distributions made out of the Fund (other than Management Fee Distributions, as described herein) and, on liquidation of its net assets (on a series by series basis). No certificates are issued by the Fund to represent the outstanding Units. Each Unit is transferable only in accordance with Declaration of Trust and subject to securities legislation, is not subject to future calls or assessments, and entitles the holder to rights of redemption.

Offering Price

The price of the Units of the Fund is an amount equal to the net asset value per Unit (NAVPU) determined from time to time. Currently, the NAVPU will be determined weekly, on the last business day of each week (each, a Valuation Date).

The NAVPU will also be determined on the last business day of each month and on any other day as the Manager in its discretion determines, but these dates will not be considered Valuation Dates for the purposes of Unitholder transactions.

4.2 Computation of Net Asset Values

The net asset value of the Fund (the NAV) and the net asset value per unit (NAVPU) will be calculated by the Manager or its agent in Canadian dollars on each Valuation Date by taking the value of all assets less the liabilities of the Fund.

In calculating the NAV of the Fund at any time:

- (a) the value of cash, promissory notes, receivables, prepaid expenses, dividends and interest declared or accrued but not yet received, will be deemed to be the face value thereof unless the Manager or its agent considers otherwise;
- (b) the value of treasury bills and other money market instruments will be the cost of such instruments plus the accrued interest up to and including the Valuation Date;
- the value of any other securities for which there is a published market will be the closing market price for such securities (or if there is no closing price the average of the closing bid and ask prices) on the Valuation Date; provided that if in the opinion of the Manager or its agent, such price does not properly reflect the price which would be received by the Fund upon disposal of the securities, the Manager or its agent may place such value upon such securities as appears to the Manager or its agent to most closely reflect the fair value of such securities;
- (d) the value of any other property for which a current third party valuation is available will be the value as determined by the third party valuator;
- (e) the value of all other property will be the value that the Manager or its agent determines in its reasonable discretion most accurately reflects its fair value;
- (f) the value of any asset measured in a foreign currency will be calculated by converting the value in the foreign currency into Canadian dollars using the rate of exchange current on the Valuation Date as determined by the Manager or its agent;
- (g) each transaction of purchase or sale of portfolio securities effected by the Fund will be reflected in the computation of the NAV not later than the first computation of such NAV made after the date on which such transaction becomes binding;
- (h) the issue or redemption of Units of the Fund will be reflected in the computation of the NAV no later than the next computation of such NAV made after the time as at which a NAVPU is determined for the purpose of the issue or redemption of the Units of the Fund; and
- (i) liabilities include only those expenses paid or payable by the Fund, including accrued contingent liabilities and management fees where they are known.

The NAVPU will be the NAV of the portfolio assets of the Fund attributable to the series divided by the number of Units of the series outstanding on the relevant Valuation Date.

A NAV will not be calculated if redemptions have been suspended by the Manager.

The value given to any pooled fund investments held by the Fund on a Valuation Date, including an Underlying Crystal Wealth Fund, is derived from the most recent net asset value information available to Crystal Wealth on that Valuation Date. Often, the only valuation information available is an estimate of the net asset value of the applicable pooled fund as of the Valuation Date, which in turn is based on estimated values of the pooled fund's underlying investments. These underlying investments may be difficult to value, as they may be illiquid and may trade infrequently or not at all. In some cases, subsequent information provided by the pooled fund may show an actual value that is different from the estimated value previously provided. No adjustment will be made to the number of Units purchased or redeemed by an investor in the Fund because of the use of estimated values in determining the net asset value of the Fund and the net asset value of each series of Units of the Fund.

4.3 Redemption of Units

A Unitholder may, upon request to the Manager in a manner and form acceptable to the Manager, redeem a portion or all of its Units at a redemption price equal to the NAVPU on the Valuation Date next following the date on which the request for redemption is received by the Manager, less any accrued and applicable fees and taxes. If the request is received by the Manager prior to 4:00 p.m. ET, on a Valuation Date, the redemption will be processed on that Valuation Date. Proceeds of redemption will be paid within three Business Days from such date either by cheque or electronic payment, as the Unitholder requests. No interest will be paid to the Unitholder on account of any delay in forwarding the proceeds of redemption to the Unitholder. If Units were purchased by cheque and then redeemed within seven business days of the purchase, the Fund may hold the redemption proceeds until the purchase cheque has cleared, which may take up to 10 business days for cheques drawn on a Canadian chartered bank and up to 45 business days for all other cheques.

The Manager has the right to cause redemptions of Units to be suspended for the whole or any part of a period during which normal trading is suspended on any exchange or market on which securities representing more than 50% by value or underlying market exposure of the total assets of the Fund are traded. Any redemptions that would otherwise have taken place during the period of suspension will be effected at the close of business on the Valuation Date immediately following the termination of suspension unless, prior to that date, a Unitholder has withdrawn his or her redemption order.

The Manager may, at any time and from time to time, by giving ten business days prior written notice to Unitholders, redeem all or any portion of the outstanding Units of a series on the next Valuation Date for a redemption price per Unit equal to the NAVPU for Units of that series calculated for such day. Among other reasons, the Manager could exercise this right if a particular series has so few Units outstanding that the Manager in its discretion deems it uneconomic to continue to offer the series. Alternatively, the Manager could exercise this right of redemption for tax purposes.

The Manager is also entitled to require the redemption of all or any part of the Units held by a Unitholder at any time in its discretion.

The Manager is entitled to require the redemption of all of the Units held by a Unitholder at any time that the Unitholder's account falls below \$5,000 in market value. Prior to exercising this right of redemption, the Manager will provide the Unitholder with 10 business days' prior notice to allow such Unitholder an opportunity to increase the value of its account to \$5,000 by purchasing more Units of the Fund.

4.4 Systematic Withdrawal Plans

Unitholders may make regular redemptions through a Systematic Withdrawal Plan (SWP). Once a SWP is authorized, the Manager will make automatic redemptions from the Unitholder's account according to

the schedule chosen by the Unitholder. SWPs are available monthly or quarterly on any Friday of the month. If the selected Friday is not a business day, the SWP will be run on the Valuation Date immediately preceding it. In addition, all of the conditions, features, fees and charges discussed elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum apply to Units redeemed under the SWP program.

4.5 Distributions

The Fund intends to distribute to Unitholders in each taxation year such portion of its net income, including net realized capital gains, as will be sufficient to ensure that the Fund will not be liable for income tax under Part I of the Tax Act for each taxation year. Distributions will be made annually in December of each year, on a date between December 15 and December 31 to be determined by the Manager. The Manager may, at its discretion, decide to distribute to Unitholders a portion of its net income, including net realized capital gains, at other times during the year as well.

The Fund shall deduct or withhold from any distribution to a Unitholder who is, or is deemed to be, a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act, or is a partnership that is not a "Canadian partnership" within the meaning of the Tax Act, any taxes or other amounts required to be deducted or withheld therefrom by the Fund under the Tax Act or any other applicable tax legislation. The Fund shall remit such deducted or withheld taxes or other amounts to the appropriate tax authority on behalf of the Unitholder. Any such taxes or other amounts remitted by the Fund shall be considered to have been paid by the Fund to the Unitholder in satisfaction of any distribution to the Unitholder by the Fund.

All distributions made by the Fund to each series of Units will be automatically reinvested in additional Units of the same series at the NAVPU thereof unless a Unitholder elects to receive his or her distribution in cash.

4.6 Short Term Trading Fee

In order to protect the interests of the majority of Unitholders of the Fund and to discourage short term trading in the Fund, Unitholders may be subject to a short-term trading fee. If a Unitholder redeems Units within 180 days of such Units having been acquired, the Fund may deduct and retain for the benefit of the remaining Unitholders 5% of the value of the Units redeemed.

4.7 Restriction on Non-Resident Unitholders

In order to ensure that the Fund qualifies as a "mutual fund trust" within the meaning of the Tax Act at all times, the Manager has the right, in accordance with the Declaration of Trust governing the Fund, not to accept a subscription for Units from, or issue or register a transfer of Units to, a Unitholder who is, or is deemed to be, a non-resident of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act, or is a partnership that is not a "Canadian partnership" within the meaning of the Tax Act. In addition, under certain circumstances, the Manager may require that such a Unitholder redeem its Units.

4.8 Fees and Expenses

Management Fee: The Manager is entitled to charge the Fund a management fee at a maximum annual rate of 2.0%. The base Trailer Fee (as described in Item 6) is paid by the Manager from out of this management fee. The management fee accrues daily and is payable monthly in arrears.

Trustee Fees: Crystal Wealth acts as trustee for the Fund and has chosen not to accept any compensation from the Fund for this service.

Management Fee Distributions: The Manager may, in its sole and absolute discretion, rebate part of its management fee to select Unitholders, effectively reducing the management fee that those Unitholders are paying. The amount of the reduction is distributed by the Fund (the Management Fee Distribution) to the investor for whose benefit the fees were reduced. Where applicable, Management Fee Distributions will be calculated on each business day and distributed on a regular basis by the Fund to the applicable investor, generally, first out of the net income of the Fund, including net realized capital gains of the Fund, and then as a return of capital. All Management Fee Distributions will be reinvested in additional Units of the same series of Units of the Fund unless otherwise requested. The amount of the Management Fee Distribution will generally be treated for purposes of the Tax Act as income, capital gains or return of capital to the Unitholder receiving it.

Operating Expenses: The ongoing expenses of the Fund will be borne by the Fund, including without limitation, trustee fees, the fees and expenses of legal counsel and the Fund's auditors, communications to Unitholders, custodial arrangements, fund accounting fees, registrar and transfer agency fees, administration and recordkeeping, interest, brokerage fees, regulatory fees and taxes of all kinds to which the Fund is or might be subject to. The Fund is required to pay harmonized sales tax (HST) on the management fee and most of the other fees and expenses which it pays.

4.9 Subscription Procedure

Continuous Offering

Units of the Fund are offered on a continuous basis under this Offering Memorandum. This offering is being conducted pursuant to the prospectus exemption available under Section 2.3 (accredited investor) (the **Accredited Investor Exemption**) and Section 2.10 (minimum amount - \$150,000) (the **\$150,000 Exemption**) of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus Exemptions* (**NI 45-106**).

The Manager may from time to time establish minimum initial investment amounts and minimum additional investment amounts. The Manager may in its discretion waive such minimum requirements on a temporary basis or on a case by case basis.

The Manager reserves the right to accept or reject subscriptions, to change the minimum amounts for investments in the Fund and to discontinue the offering of Units of the Fund at any time and from time to time. Any monies received with rejected subscriptions will be refunded within two business days, without interest or deduction.

Subscriptions may be placed by investors either directly with the Manager or through registered dealers or entities that are exempt from dealer registration. Prospective investors who wish to subscribe for Units must complete, execute and deliver the Subscription Agreement that accompanies this Offering Memorandum to the Manager or their dealer (as appropriate) and tender the subscription amount in a manner acceptable to the Manager. Units will be issued at the NAVPU on the Valuation Date next following receipt by the Manager of a subscription request (unless received on a Valuation Date prior to 4:00 p.m. E.T., in which case the Units will be issued on such Valuation Date). All subscriptions for Units of the Fund must be forwarded by dealers, without charge, the same day that they are received, to the Manager on behalf of the Fund.

A subscriber has the right to cancel the subscription by sending written notice of cancellation before midnight of the second business day after the subscriber signs the Subscription Agreement. Any subscription proceeds received will be held in trust for that period, and will be promptly returned to the subscriber without interest or deduction if the subscriber exercises his or her cancellation rights.

Additional Investments

Additional investments in the Fund are generally permitted in any amount, subject to any minimum holding prescribed from time to time by the Manager. Each additional investment can only be made pursuant to a prospectus exemption which is available at the time of the additional investment. For example, investors purchasing in reliance on the Accredited Investor exemption will be requested to represent that they continue to qualify as Accredited Investors at the time of each additional investment.

At the time of making each additional investment in the Fund, each investor will be deemed to have repeated to the Fund the covenants and representations contained in the Subscription Agreement, delivered by the investor to the Fund at the time of the initial purchase.

The Manager reserves the right to change the minimum amount for additional investments in the Fund at any time and from time to time.

Following each purchase of Units, investors will receive written confirmation indicating details of the purchase transaction, including the dollar amount of the purchase order, the net asset value per unit and the number of Units purchased. For additional investments, the written confirmation will indicate the cumulative total of all Units held by the investor.

Pre-authorized Chequing Plan

Provided a Unitholder continues to have the status of an "accredited investor" or otherwise meets the prescribed investment qualifications, Unitholders may make regular purchases through a Pre-authorized Chequing Plan (PAC). Where the Unitholder in an individual investor relying on the Accredited Investor exemption, further arrangements, including the continued or ongoing provision of the prescribed risk acknowledgement form, may be required in order to comply with such exemption. Once a PAC is authorized, the Manager will make automatic withdrawals from the Unitholder's bank account according to the schedule chosen by the Unitholder and invest this sum in Units of the Fund. PAC withdrawals can be made monthly or quarterly, on any Friday in the month or quarter. If the chosen Friday is not a business day, the PAC will run on the next Valuation Date thereafter. In addition, all of the conditions, features, fees and charges discussed elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum apply to Units purchased under the PAC program.

Item 5 Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations

5.1 Disclaimer

An investment in Units of the Fund may give rise to tax consequences for Unitholders under the Tax Act and any applicable provincial, territorial, local or foreign tax laws. Prospective Unitholders are urged to consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of investing in Units of the Fund under the Tax Act and any applicable provincial, territorial, local or foreign tax laws based on their own particular circumstances.

5.2 Summary of Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is, as of the date of this Offering Memorandum, a general summary of certain Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable under the Tax Act to the Fund and Unitholders who at all relevant times, for purposes of the Tax Act, (i) are the beneficial owners of the Units, (ii) are individuals (other than trusts) resident in Canada, (iii) hold their Units as capital property, and (iv) deal at arm's length and are not affiliated with the Fund and its affiliates. Generally, Units will be considered to

be capital property to the Unitholder thereof for purposes of the Tax Act provided that they are not held in the course of carrying on a business and have not been acquired in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. Certain Unitholders who might not otherwise be considered to hold their Units as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to have their Units, and any other "Canadian security" (as defined in the Tax Act) owned by such Unitholders in the taxation year in which the election is made, and in all subsequent taxation years, treated as capital property by making the irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act. Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential application and consequences of this election in their particular circumstances.

This summary is not applicable to a Unitholder that has entered or will enter into a "derivative forward agreement" as that term is defined in the Tax Act with respect to the Units. Such Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors.

This summary is based on provisions of the Tax Act in force on the date of this Offering Memorandum and the current published administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (the "CRA") publicly available prior to the date of this Offering Memorandum. This summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act which have been publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date of this Offering Memorandum (the "Tax Proposals") and assumes that the Tax Proposals will be enacted in their current form. There can be no assurance that any Tax Proposals will be enacted in their current form or at all. Except for the Tax Proposals, this summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law whether by legislative, governmental, or judicial decision or action, or changes in the administrative policies and assessing practices of the CRA. In addition, this summary does not take into account any other federal or any provincial, territorial, local or foreign tax legislation or considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed herein.

This summary is based on the assumption that the Fund is and will continue to qualify at all times as a mutual fund trust for purposes of the Tax Act. This summary is also based on the assumption that the Fund has not been established or will not be maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act. If the Fund were not to qualify as a mutual fund trust under the Tax Act, then the Canadian federal income tax considerations would be materially different from those described herein

This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in Units. Moreover, the income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding, or disposing of Units will vary depending on the Unitholder's particular circumstances, including the provinces in which the Unitholder resides or carries on business. Accordingly, this summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to any prospective purchaser of Units. Prospective Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the tax consequences to them of an investment in Units, based on their particular circumstances.

Status of the Fund

To qualify as a mutual fund trust for purposes of the Tax Act (i) the Fund must be a Canadian resident "unit trust" for purposes of the Tax Act, (ii) the only undertaking of the Fund must be (a) the investing of its fund in property (other than real property or an interest in real property or an immovable or a real right in an immovable), (b) the acquiring, holding, maintaining, improving, leasing or managing of any real property (or interest in real property) or of any immovable (or real right in an immovable) that is capital property of the Fund or (c) any combination of the activities described in (a) and (b), and (iii) the Fund

must comply with certain minimum requirements respecting the ownership and dispersal of Units. The Fund must also not be established or maintained primarily for the benefit of non-residents of Canada in order to qualify as a mutual fund trust for purposes of the Tax Act. The Manager intends to ensure that the Fund will continue to qualify as a mutual fund trust at all times for purposes of the Tax Act.

Taxation of the Fund

The Fund will be subject to tax in each taxation year under Part I of the Tax Act on the amount of its income for the particular year, including net realized taxable capital gains, less the portion thereof that it claims in respect of amounts paid or payable to Unitholders in the year. It is the Fund's intention to make distributions payable to Unitholders in such amounts in each taxation year and to deduct such amounts in computing its income in each taxation year as will be sufficient to ensure that the Fund will not be liable for income tax under Part I of the Tax Act for each taxation year other than such tax on net realized capital gains that will be recoverable by the Fund in respect of such taxation year by reason of the capital gains refund mechanism under the Tax Act.

In computing its income for tax purposes, the Fund may deduct reasonable administrative and other expenses incurred to earn income, in accordance with the detailed rules under the Tax Act. The Fund may generally deduct the costs and expenses paid by the Fund in respect of the offering of its Units and not reimbursed at a rate of 20% per year, pro-rated where the Fund's taxation year is less than 365 days. Any losses incurred by the Fund may not be allocated to Unitholders but may generally be carried forward and back and deducted in computing the taxable income of the Fund in accordance with detailed rules and limitations in the Tax Act.

In determining the income of the Fund, gains or losses realized upon the disposition or deemed disposition of a security will constitute capital gains or losses of the Fund in the taxation year in which realized unless the Fund is considered to be trading or dealing in such securities or otherwise carrying on an investment business of buying and selling securities or the Fund has acquired such securities in a transaction or transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. The Fund intends to purchase and will purchase securities with the objective of earning income over the life of the Fund and will take the position that gains and losses realized on the disposition or deemed disposition thereof are capital gains and capital losses.

Upon the actual or deemed disposition of a security, the Fund will realize a capital gain (or capital loss) to the extent the proceeds of disposition exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base of such security immediately before such disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition. One-half of the amount of any capital gain (a "taxable capital gain") realized by the Fund in a taxation year must be included in computing the Fund's income for the year, and one-half of the amount of any capital loss (an "allowable capital loss") realized by the Fund in a taxation year must be deducted against capital gains realized by the Fund in that taxation year. Allowable capital losses for a taxation year in excess of taxable capital gains in that year may be carried back and deducted by the Fund in any of the three preceding taxation years or carried forward and deducted in any subsequent taxation year against net realized taxable capital gains of the Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act.

The Fund will be entitled, for each taxation year throughout which it is a mutual fund trust, to reduce (or receive a refund in respect of) its liability, if any, for tax on its net realized capital gains by an amount determined under the Tax Act based on the redemptions of its Units during the year ("capital gains refund"). The capital gains refund in a particular taxation year may not completely offset the tax liability of the Fund for such taxation year which may arise upon the sale of securities in connection with a redemption of Units.

Taxation of Unitholders

Unitholders will generally be required to include, in computing their income for a taxation year, the amount of the Fund's net income for the taxation year of the Fund ending in, or coincidently with, the Unitholders' taxation year, including net realizable taxable capital gains, paid or payable to them (including by way of a Management Fee Distribution), whether or not reinvested in additional Units of the Fund or paid in cash or additional Units.

Under the Tax Act, the Fund is permitted to deduct in computing its income for a taxation year an amount that is less than the amount of its distributions for the year in order to enable the Fund to utilize, in the taxation year, losses from prior years without affecting the ability of the Fund to distribute its income annually. Such amount distributed to a Unitholder but not deducted by the Fund will not be included in the Unitholder's income. However, the adjusted cost base (within the meaning of the Tax Act) of the Unitholder's Units will be reduced by such amount (other than the non-taxable portion of the Fund's net realized capital gains as discussed below).

Provided that appropriate designations are made by the Fund, such portion of (i) the taxable dividends received or deemed to be received by the Fund on shares of taxable Canadian corporations (as defined in the Tax Act), and (ii) the net realized taxable capital gains of the Fund, as is paid or payable to a Unitholder will effectively retain its character and be treated as such in the hands of the Unitholder for purposes of the Tax Act. To the extent that amounts are designated as taxable dividends from taxable Canadian corporations, the normal gross-up and dividend tax credit rules will apply, including the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit rules in respect of dividends designated in accordance with the Tax Act as "eligible dividends" (as defined in the Tax Act).

The non-taxable portion of the Fund's net realized capital gains, the taxable portion of which was designated in respect of a Unitholder in the year, that is paid or payable (whether in cash or additional Units) to the Unitholder in the taxation year will not be included in the Unitholder's income for the year. Such amount, however, will generally reduce the adjusted cost base of the Unitholder's Units. Any distributions by the Fund to a Unitholder by way of a return of capital will not be included in computing the Unitholder's income but will reduce the Unitholder's adjusted cost base of its Units. To the extent that the adjusted cost base of a Unit would otherwise be less than zero, the negative amount will be deemed to be a capital gain realized by the Unitholder from the disposition of the Unit and the Unitholder's adjusted cost base will be increased by the amount of such deemed capital gain.

At the time a purchaser acquires Units of the Fund, the net asset value of the Units may reflect accrued income and capital gains and realized income and capital gains which have not been distributed. When and if such income and capital gains are distributed by the Fund to Unitholders, the income and the taxable portion of the capital gains will have to be included in the purchaser's income.

Any upfront sales charges paid by Unitholders on the acquisition of Units of the Fund are not deductible by Unitholders but can generally be added to the adjusted cost base of the Units purchased. In determining the adjusted cost base of Units for purposes of the Tax Act, the cost of newly-acquired Units must be averaged with the adjusted cost base of all other Units of the Fund held by the Unitholder as capital property at such time. The cost of Units acquired as a distribution of income or capital gains from the Fund will generally be equal to the amount of the distribution. Any additional Units acquired by a Unitholder on the reinvestment of distributions will generally have a cost equal to the amount reinvested.

Upon the actual or deemed disposition of a Unit, including the redemption of a Unit by the Fund, a capital gain (or a capital loss) will generally be realized to the extent that the proceeds of disposition of the Unit exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base of the Unit to the Unitholder immediately before such

disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition. Under the Tax Act, one-half of any capital gain ("taxable capital gain") realized is generally included in a Unitholder's income and one-half of any capital loss ("allowable capital loss") realized must be deducted from taxable capital gains in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act. Allowable capital losses realized in a particular taxation year in excess of taxable capital gains realized in that year may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation years or carried forward and deducted in any subsequent taxation year against taxable capital gains in accordance with the rules in the Tax Act.

In general terms, net income of the Fund paid or payable to a Unitholder that is designated as taxable dividends from Canadian corporations or as net realized taxable capital gains as well as taxable capital gains realized by a Unitholder on a disposition or deemed disposition of its Units may increase the Unitholder's liability for alternative minimum tax.

Unitholders will be advised each year of the amount of net income, taxable dividends from taxable Canadian corporations, net realized capital gains and returns of capital paid or payable to them.

5.3 Eligibility for Investment

Provided that the Fund continues to qualify as a mutual fund trust at all times for purposes of the Tax Act, Units of the Fund should be qualified investments for a registered retirement savings plan ("RRSP"), a registered retirement income fund ("RRIF"), a deferred profit sharing plan, a registered education savings plans, a registered disability savings plan and a tax-free savings account ("TFSA").

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the annuitant of a RRSP or RRIF or the holder of a TFSA will be subject to a penalty tax if Units of the Fund are held in a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA, as the case may be, and are a "prohibited investment" for such RRSP, RRIF or TFSA under the Tax Act. Units of the Fund will not be a prohibited investment for a RRSP, RRIF or TFSA provided the annuitant or holder, as the case may be, deal's at arm's length with the Fund for purposes of the Tax Act and does not have a "significant interest" (as defined in the Tax Act) in the Fund. In addition, Units of the Fund will generally not be a prohibited investment if such Units are "excluded property" as defined in the Tax Act. Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors as to whether Units of the Fund will be a prohibited investment in their particular circumstances.

Item 6 Compensation Paid to Dealers

6.1 Sales Charge

Registered dealers (each, a **Dealer**), whose dealing representatives sell Units of the Fund may, with the agreement of the investor, charge an up-front fee to investors of up to 5% of the total subscription amount. As described under Item 3.3 Interests of Management and Conflicts of Interest, although a placement fee may be charged by a dealing representative of the Manager, the Manager itself does not charge or receive a separate placement fee.

6.2 Trailer Fees

The Manager will pay a monthly fee (the **Trailer Fee**) to Dealers to compensate the Dealers for ongoing services to their clients in respect of an investment in the Fund. The Trailer Fee is calculated based upon a percentage of the average daily value of the Units of the Fund held by the clients of the Dealers. The Trailer Fee will be paid at a rate of up to 1.0% per annum.

Item 7 Risk Factors

An investment in the Fund involves certain risks. Investors should consider the following risk factors before investing.

7.1 Issuer Risks

General. Although the Fund intends to invest in a diversified portfolio of investments designed to mitigate short-term risk, investing in the Fund entails certain risks and is only suitable for investors who understand and are capable of bearing the risks of an investment in the Fund. All investments in securities and other financial instruments risk the loss of invested capital. There is no assurance that the Fund will achieve its overall investment objective. Prospective investors should carefully consider the following risk factors, which do not purport to be a complete list of the potential risks and conflicts of interest involved in an investment in the Fund. The NAVPU will vary directly with the market value and return of the investment portfolio of the Fund.

Reliance on Crystal Wealth. The Fund will be dependent on the knowledge and expertise of Crystal Wealth for investment advisory and portfolio management services. There is no certainty that the persons who are currently officers and directors of Crystal Wealth will continue to be officers and directors of Crystal Wealth.

Potential Conflicts of Interest. The Manager may also act in the same or similar capacities in respect of other entities. In that event, it may have responsibility for the management of the assets of other entities at the same time as it is managing the Fund's portfolio and may use the same or different information and trading strategies obtained, produced or utilized in managing the portfolio of the Fund. See Item 3, Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders – Interests of Management and Conflicts of Interest.

No involvement by Unaffiliated Selling Agent or Other Professional Representing Unitholders. No securities dealer or selling agent unaffiliated with the Manager was involved with or has made any review or investigation of the terms of the this offering, the structure of the Fund or the background or history of the Manager and its principal. No legal counsel, investment dealer, accounting firm or other professional advisor acting on behalf of Unitholders has reviewed the terms of this offering. Consequently, prospective investors are advised to consult their own legal, tax or financial advisors in connection with the purchase of Units.

Unitholder Liability. Because of uncertainties in the law relating to trusts such as the Fund, there is a risk that a Unitholder could be held personally liable for obligations of the Fund to the extent that claims are not satisfied out of the assets of the Fund. It is intended that the Fund's operations will be conducted in such a way as to minimize any such risk. In particular, the Manager will follow the investment strategy and process of the Fund and will use its best efforts to avoid such liability being placed upon the Unitholders. Based upon these measures being adhered to by the Fund, it is considered by the Manager that the risk of Unitholder liability is remote in the circumstances.

7.2 Investment and Market Risks

Market and Economic Conditions. The market value of the Fund's investments will rise and fall based on developments in the broader equity and fixed income markets. Market values will also vary with changes in general economic and financial conditions. Fluctuations in the market values of such investments can occur for a number of reasons beyond the control of the Manager. Performance of the Fund will be affected by various factors including fluctuations in interest rates, business and consumer demand,

general economic conditions and cycles, foreign and domestic political developments, competition, imposition of tariffs, duties or other taxes and government regulation, as applicable. Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and other currencies in which direct and indirect investments of the Fund are denominated will affect the value of Units when expressed in Canadian dollars.

Performance and Marketability of Underlying Securities. There is no market in which some of the securities held by the Fund can be sold and, accordingly, there is no assurance that the securities acquired by the Fund can be sold for the values used to calculate the NAVPU.

Leverage. The Fund may directly or indirectly make use of leveraged investments. The use of leverage can magnify gains but may also increase the Fund's exposure to the risk of losing its capital.

No Guaranteed Return. There is no guarantee that an investment in Units will earn any positive return in the short or long term.

Concentration Risk. The Fund may have a concentrated number of investments. As a result, the securities in which it invests may not be diversified across all sectors or may be concentrated in specific regions or countries. By investing in a relatively small number of securities, the Manager may have a significant portion of the Fund invested in a single security. This may result in higher volatility, as the value of the Fund's portfolio will vary more in response to changes in the market value of an individual security.

Foreign Investment Risk. The Fund may invest in foreign markets (outside Canada and the U.S.). These foreign markets may not be subject to the same degree of regulation as companies in Canada and the U.S. They may have less rigorous auditing and financial reporting requirements and fewer rules about disclosing company information. Foreign investments may be more difficult to sell and may be subject to withholding taxes. Some foreign countries may suffer from a weak economy, a narrow industrial base, weak currency, high inflation or social or political instability, which could lower the value of the investment.

Currency and Exchange Rate Risks. The Fund's cash assets may be held in currencies other than the Canadian dollar, and gains and losses from futures contracts and currency forwards will generally be in currencies other than the Canadian dollar. Accordingly, a portion of the income received by the Fund will be denominated in non-Canadian currencies. The Fund nevertheless will compute and distribute its income in Canadian dollars. Thus changes in currency exchange rates may affect the value of the Fund's portfolio and the unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments. Further, the Fund may incur costs in connection with conversions between various currencies.

Use of Derivatives. The Manager may make selective use of of derivatives and other securities for both hedging and non-hedging purposes. The use of derivative instruments involves risks different from, and possibly greater than, the risks associated with investing directly in securities and other conventional investments. Derivatives are subject to a number of risks, including the risk of mispricing or improper valuation and the risk that changes in the value of a derivative may not correlate perfectly with changes in the price of the underlying asset, rate or index. Hedging with derivatives may not always be successful and could limit the Fund's ability to have access to increases in the value of the investments. The Fund may not be able to obtain or close out a derivative contract when the Manager views it as desirable to do so, which may prevent the Fund from making a profit or limiting a loss. When the Fund invests in a derivative instrument, it could lose more than the principal amount invested. Amounts paid by the Fund as premiums and cash or other assets held in margin or trading accounts are not otherwise available to the Fund for investment purposes.

To the extent that the Fund enters into derivative transactions, the Fund will be exposed to the credit risk of the counterparties to such transactions. There is a limited choice of first tier counterparties which may lead to a concentration of exposure to certain counterparties.

In general, the use of margin and other borrowings based on the market value of the Fund's portfolio results in certain additional risks. For example, should the financial instruments pledged to brokers to secure margin accounts decline in value, the Fund could be subject to a "margin call", requiring additional deposits of financial instruments in order to avoid liquidation of the pledged financial instruments. In the event of a sudden drop in the value of the Fund's holdings, the Fund may not be able to liquidate financial instruments quickly enough to satisfy margin requirements.

Shorting. Selling a security short involves borrowing a security and selling that security in the market with a promise to return the securities at a later date. Should the security increase in value before the short position is closed, the Fund will incur losses. There is no theoretical upper limit to the price of a security sold short and hence to the potential loss. The loss of "a borrow", describes the situation where the lender of the security requests its return. In such case, the Fund must either find replacement securities or purchase the securities on the open market. If there are insufficient quantities of securities available, the Fund may have to bid up the price in order to cover the short, resulting in losses.

Prime Broker. Some or all of the Fund's assets may be held in one or more accounts with prime brokers. These accounts may provide less segregation of customer assets than would be the case with a more conventional custody arrangement. A prime broker may, among other things, lend or pledge the Fund's assets with the potential for loss of such assets. The Fund's assets could be frozen and inaccessible for withdrawal or subsequent trading for an extended period of time if the prime broker experiences financial difficulty. In such case, the Fund may experience losses due to insufficient assets at the prime broker to satisfy the claims of its creditors, and adverse market movements while its positions cannot be traded. In addition, the prime broker is unlikely to be able to provide leverage to the Fund, which could adversely affect the Fund's returns.

Investors should also note that generally, in the event of default by a customer under the prime brokerage agreement, the prime broker has the right to take remedial action, including the purchase or sale of securities in the account. An event of default includes failure by the Fund to make, when due, payment or delivery to settle transactions; failure to comply with or perform any material obligation; or if the Fund suffers a material adverse change in its financial condition.

Redemption Risk: Substantial redemptions of Units could require the Fund to liquidate positions more rapidly than otherwise desirable to raise the necessary cash to fund redemptions. Such actions could adversely affect the value of the Units redeemed and of the Units that remain outstanding. In accordance with section 4.1, Terms of Securities, the Manager has the right to suspend redemptions in several circumstances as described therein. If the Manager were to exercise this right, Unitholders would not be able to redeem their Units until the suspension is lifted.

Legal, Tax and Regulatory Risks. Legal, tax and regulatory changes or events may occur that could adversely affect the Fund or the Unitholders. In particular, if the Fund experiences a "trust loss restriction event" the Fund (i) will be deemed to have a year-end for tax purposes (which would result in an unscheduled distribution of the Fund's net income and net realized capital gains, if any, at such time to Unitholders so that the Fund would not be liable for income tax on such amounts under Part I of the Tax Act), and (ii) will become subject to the loss restriction rules generally applicable to a corporation that experiences an acquisition of control, including a deemed realization of any unrealized capital losses, inability to carry-forward capital losses, and restrictions on its ability to carry forward non-capital losses.

Generally, the Fund would be subject to a loss restriction event if a person becomes a "majority-interest beneficiary", or a group of persons becomes a "majority-interest group of beneficiaries", of the Fund, as those terms are defined in the Tax Act. Generally, a person would be a majority-interest beneficiary of the Fund if it, together with persons and partnerships with whom it is affiliated for purposes of the Tax Act, owns more than 50% of the units of the Fund. The loss restriction event rules include relieving measures for trusts that meet certain conditions.

Marketability of Units. There is currently no secondary market through which the Units may be sold nor is one expected to develop. Redemptions are permitted only as described herein and there are circumstances in which the Fund may suspend redemptions. Accordingly, Units of the Fund may not be appropriate for investors seeking greater liquidity than weekly. Also, Units are only transferable in limited circumstances with the approval of the Manager.

Duplication of Management Fees. The Fund will invest primarily in other mutual funds. Where such underlying funds are managed by the Manager, there will effectively be no duplication of management fees, as explained under Item 2, Business of the Fund – Investments in Other Funds Managed by Crystal Wealth. Where the underlying funds are managed by a third party, the Fund will pay management fees, either through management fees charged to the underlying fund or through a negotiated fee paid outside the fund. The Manager will at all times endeavour to ensure that such fees are at appropriate rates and that the aggregate fees borne by the Fund, direct and indirect, and fair and equitable in the circumstances.

Net Asset Value and Estimated Values. A portion of the calculation of the net asset value of the Fund could be based on estimated values provided by underlying funds. These estimated values are, in turn, based on values attributed to the underlying investments held in such funds, which investments may be illiquid and may trade infrequently or not at all. No adjustments will be made to the number of Units purchased or redeemed by an investor in a Fund because of the use of estimated values in determining the net asset value of a Fund, even if the estimated values that are used in calculating such net asset value are subsequently determined to differ significantly from the final values eventually obtained in respect of the underlying funds.

Item 8 Reporting to Unitholders

If a Unitholder has purchased Units through a Dealer, the Dealer is obliged to provide the Unitholder with account statements regarding their investment in the Fund. Unitholders who have purchased the Fund directly from the Manager will receive an annual and semi-annual account statement showing the Units held by them and any transactions for the preceding period. Investors who purchase Units directly from the Manager will also receive confirmation of their trade from the Manager.

In addition, Unitholders will receive the applicable tax form(s) identifying the Unitholder's distributions (including income, taxable dividends from taxable Canadian corporations, taxable capital gains and returns of capital).

The fiscal year end of the Fund is December 31. Unitholders have the right to elect to receive audited annual financial statements and unaudited semi-annual financial statements. An election request will be sent out annually and the Unitholder's choice will remain in effect for the following year.

Item 9 Other Disclosures

9.1 Forward Looking Information

The foregoing disclosure of investment objectives and strategies may constitute "forward-looking information" for the purpose of Ontario securities legislation, as it contains statements of the intended course of conduct and future operations of the Fund. These statements are based on assumptions made by the Manager of the success of its investment strategies in certain market conditions, relying on the experience of the Manager's officers and employees and their knowledge of historical economic and market trends. Investors are cautioned that the assumptions made by the Manager and the success of its investment strategies are subject to a number of mitigating factors. Economic and market conditions may change, which may materially impact the success of the Manager's intended strategies as well as its actual course of conduct. Investors are urged to read Item 7, Risk Factors, for a discussion of other factors that will impact the operations and success of the Fund.

9.2 Anti Money-Laundering Legislation

The Manager is required to comply with all applicable laws, regulations and administrative pronouncements concerning money laundering and other criminal activities (**Anti-Money Laundering Laws**), which includes implementing specific measures to detect and deter money laundering and financing of terrorist activity. Unitholders may be required to provide additional information regarding the Unitholder or their beneficial owner(s) or other information that the Manager deems necessary or advisable to ensure compliance with all Anti-Money Laundering Laws. Additional information is in the subscription agreement.

If the Manager is aware or suspects that a Unitholder is engaged in money laundering or if otherwise required by Anti-Money Laundering Laws, the Manager may undertake appropriate actions to ensure that the Fund or the Manager are in compliance with all such Anti-Money Laundering Laws. The Fund or the Manager may release confidential information about a Unitholder and, if applicable, any underlying beneficial owner(s), to governmental authorities. This reporting will not be a breach of privacy laws as it is required by law.

9.3 Collection of Personal Information

By subscribing for Units in the Funds, the Unitholder acknowledges that its name, residential address and telephone number and other specified information, including the number of Units it has purchased and the aggregate purchase price paid by the Unitholder, may be disclosed to Canadian securities regulatory authorities and other authorities governing the operations of the Fund and the Manager, and may therefore become available to the public in accordance with requirements of applicable Canadian laws. By subscribing for Units in the Funds, the Unitholder shall authorize such indirect collection of personal information.

9.4 *FATCA*

Under U.S. withholding tax and reporting requirements, commonly referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"), non-U.S. financial entities are required to collect information from their clients and directly or indirectly provide that information to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") in order to avoid a 30% U.S. withholding tax on payments of U.S. source income and gross proceeds. Canada enacted Part XVIII ("Part XVIII") of the Tax Act and signed an Intergovernmental Agreement with the U.S. for the Enhanced Exchange of Tax Information under the Canada-U.S. Tax Convention to achieve the U.S. objectives of FATCA in a manner that is consistent with Canada's

privacy and other laws. Unitholders will generally be required to provide to their financial advisor or dealer information related to their citizenship or residence for tax purposes and, if applicable, their U.S. federal tax identification number. If Unitholders do not provide that information or are identified as a U.S. citizen (including a U.S. citizen living in Canada) or a U.S. resident, details of the Unitholder's investment in the Fund will generally be reported to the CRA unless Units are held in a registered plan.

The CRA has agreed to provide the information to the IRS. If a Unitholder does not provide the information required to comply with obligations under Part XVIII, the Unitholder's Units may be redeemed. Unitholders should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of FATCA for them and their investments.

9.5 Restrictions on Transfer and Resale

Because the Units are offered on a private placement basis in reliance on prospectus exemptions, they are generally not transferable, are subject to regulatory resale restrictions and may only be transferred from one holder to another with the written consent of the Manager. Applicable securities laws provide that securities purchased under a prospectus exemption may not be resold except on expiry of statutory hold periods or otherwise in compliance with such laws. However, Units are redeemable at net asset value, as described under Item 4.3 Redemption of Units.

9.6 Language of Documents

By receiving this document, you hereby confirm that you have expressly requested that all documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of securities described herein (including for greater certainty any purchase confirmation or notice) be drawn up in the English language only. Par la reception de ce document, chaque investisseur confirme par les présentes qu'il a expressément exigé que tous les documents faisant foi ou se rapportant de quelque manière que ce soit à la vente des valeurs mobilières décrites aux présentes (incluant, pour plus de certitude, toute confirmation d'achat ou tout avis) soient rédigés en anglais seulement.

Item 10 Purchasers' Rights

10.1 Understanding your Rights

If you purchase these securities you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For information about your rights you should consult a lawyer.

10.2 Two Day Cancellation Right

You can cancel your agreement to purchase these securities. To do so, you must send a notice to the Manager by midnight on the 2^{nd} business day after you sign the agreement to buy the securities.

10.3 Statutory and Contractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation

Subscribers in British Columbia

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in British Columbia will have a statutory right to sue:

(a) the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or

(b) the Fund, the Trustee at the date of the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto and every person who signs the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and three (3) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

All subscribers in British Columbia shall have these rights, regardless of whether the subscriber relies on the Accredited Investor Exemption or the \$150,000 Exemption.

Subscribers in Alberta

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in Alberta will have a statutory right to sue:

- (a) the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) the Fund, the Trustee at the date of the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto and every person who signs the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and three (3) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

All subscribers in Alberta shall have these rights, regardless of whether the subscriber relies on the Accredited Investor Exemption or the \$150,000 Exemption.

Subscribers in Saskatchewan

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in Saskatchewan will have a statutory right to sue:

- (a) the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) the Fund, the Promoter and Trustee at the date of the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto, every person or company whose consent has been filed with the Offering Memorandum (but only with respect to reports, opinions or statements that have

been made by them), every person who signs the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto, and every person or company that sells the securities on behalf of the Fund under the Offering Memorandum for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of one (1) year after learning of the misrepresentation and six (6) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

Subscribers in Manitoba

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in Manitoba have a statutory right to sue:

- (a) the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) the Fund, the Trustee at the date of the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto and every person who signs the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and two (2) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

Subscribers in Ontario

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in Ontario will have a statutory right to sue the Fund:

- (a) to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier

of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and three (3) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

Subscribers in New Brunswick

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in New Brunswick will have a statutory right to sue:

- (a) the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) the Fund, the Trustee at the date of the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto and every person who signs the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and three (3) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

Subscribers in Nova Scotia

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in Nova Scotia will have a statutory right to sue:

- (a) to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 120 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 120 days after learning of the misrepresentation and three (3) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

Subscribers in Prince Edward Island, Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut

If there is a misrepresentation in this Offering Memorandum, subscribers resident in Prince Edward Island, Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut will have a statutory right to sue:

- (a) the Fund to cancel your agreement to buy these securities, or
- (b) the Fund, the Trustee at the date of the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto and every person who signs the Offering Memorandum or any amendment thereto for damages.

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the misrepresentation when you purchased the securities.

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and three (3) years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities.

10.4 General

The foregoing summaries are subject to any express provisions of the securities legislation of each offering jurisdiction and the regulations, rules and policy statements thereunder and reference is made thereto for the complete text of such provisions.

The rights of action described herein are in addition to and without derogation from any other right or remedy that the purchaser may have at law.

Item 11 Financial Statements

Completed financial statements for the Fund are available on the Manager's website www.crystalwealth.com and upon request from the Manager.